11-23-2009

Climax v. Snake River Oncology Appellant's Brief Dckt. 36613

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2007, the defendants-respondents, Snake River Oncology of Eastern Idaho, PLLC (“SRO”) and Christian Shull, M.D. (“Shull”), terminated a commercial lease with the plaintiff-appellant, Climax, LLC (“Climax”), in reliance on the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (“SCRA”), 50 U.S.C. App. § 501, *et seq.* The SCRA permits servicemembers to terminate leases under certain circumstances when called to active duty. However, in balancing the special privileges to servicemembers against the legitimate rights of creditors, Section 535(g) of the SCRA specifically grants lessors the right to seek modification of a servicemember’s lease termination “as justice and equity require.” Here, Climax petitioned for relief, but the trial court denied Climax’ petition on the grounds that Climax failed to prove fraud. Because nothing in Section 535(g), its legislative history, or in the cases that apply it requires that a lessor show fraud in order to obtain relief from a servicemember’s lease termination, Climax now appeals the trial court’s decision. The plain language of Section 535(g) authorizes relief as justice and equity require, nothing more.

As explained more fully below, this Court should reverse the trial court’s grant of summary judgment to SRO and Shull and remand with instructions for the trial court to determine whether justice and equity require modification of Shull and SRO’s lease termination.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 18, 2004, SRO signed a lease agreement (“Lease”) with Climax for a five-year term.¹ At that same time, Shull signed a personal guaranty of SRO’s obligations under the

¹ Clerk’s Exhibits, Exhibit “A” to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

Lease.² Shull negotiated the terms of the Lease with David Collette (“Collette”) of Climax.³ Because Collette and Shull knew each other before signing the lease, Collette agreed that Climax would initially defer a portion of the rent payments from SRO “to make it easier” for Shull to lease the property “knowing that [Shull] was just starting [his] practice.”⁴ Collette did not request anything additional in the Lease in exchange for the reduced initial rent payments.⁵

At all times relevant to this action, Shull is a licensed physician and a member of the United States Army Reserves.⁶ Sometime before October 2006, Shull received a telephone call from the United States Army notifying him that he would probably be called up to active duty.⁷ In late January 2007, Shull received written orders for him to report to active duty in Fort Irwin, California in late February 2007.⁸

On February 23, 2007, the day before Shull left Idaho Falls to report to active duty,⁹ he signed a contract to purchase a building approximately double the size of the building he was leasing from Climax¹⁰ for a purchase price of \$1,849,497.95¹¹ and to purchase equipment and supplies for an additional \$300,000,¹² ***resulting in a total purchase of over \$2.1 million the day before he left for active duty.*** Shull purchased the building, equipment, and supplies from Dr. Kevin Mulvey, another oncologist in the Idaho Falls area. Shull made the purchase “primarily” to

² Clerk’s Exhibits, Exhibit “A” to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

³ R Vol. I, pp. 41-42.

⁴ R Vol. I, pp. 41-42.

⁵ R Vol. I, pp. 41-42.

⁶ R Vol. I, p. 29.

⁷ R Vol. I, pp. 30-31.

⁸ R Vol. I, pp. 31-32.

⁹ R Vol. I, p. 32.

¹⁰ R Vol. I, p. 45.

prevent another oncologist from coming to the Idaho Falls market after Dr. Mulvey retired.¹³ By purchasing the building, equipment, and supplies, Shull's monthly debt obligation went from between \$7,000 to \$8,000 per month for the remaining two and one-half years on the Climax lease¹⁴ to \$18,000 per month for 20 years on a loan from Wells Fargo.¹⁵ Shull and Dr. Mulvey issued a joint statement to hospital staff announcing Dr. Mulvey's retirement and Shull's accepting the responsibility for the care of Dr. Mulvey's patients.¹⁶

During his period of active duty service in California from February 24 to approximately May 27, 2007, Shull provided Climax with written notice under 50 U.S.C. App. § 535 that he was terminating the Lease with Climax effective May 30, 2007.¹⁷ Shull returned to Idaho Falls from his active duty service before Memorial Day (May 28, 2007).¹⁸ Thus, Shull was back in Idaho Falls *before the lease termination became effective* on May 30, 2007.¹⁹ SRO and Shull vacated the leased property on or about May 30, 2007.

Shull *knew* he would probably serve only three months on active duty²⁰ and had successfully hired a locum tenens physician to manage his practice during his absence.²¹ Shull did not become interested in terminating his lease with Climax until *after* he became interested in purchasing the

¹¹ R Vol. I, pp. 46-47.

¹² R Vol. I, p. 48.

¹³ R Vol. I, pp. 44-45.

¹⁴ R Vol. I, pp. 40-41.

¹⁵ R Vol. I, pp. 56-57.

¹⁶ Clerk's Exhibits, Exhibit "E" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

¹⁷ Clerk's Exhibits, p. 4 of Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Bench Trial filed November 3, 2008.

¹⁸ R Vol. I, p. 33.

¹⁹ Clerk's Exhibits, pp. 4-5 of Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Bench Trial filed November 3, 2008.

²⁰ R Vol. I, p. 53.

new building.²² At his deposition, Shull testified, “*During our discussions of me purchasing the building was when I first thought of terminating the lease with Climax.*”²³ Shull contracted to purchase the new building and equipment after receiving his orders and before he left for active duty knowing that the purchase would increase his financial burden even as he was leaving for Fort Irwin.²⁴

Shull admits that he was able to meet all of his financial obligations despite his call to active duty²⁵ and the only financial burden from his call to active duty was lost profits²⁶ from a reduced number of new patient referrals.²⁷ This reduced cash flow from Shull’s absence lasted only three months after his return and then the cash flow recovered.²⁸ From January 2004 through November 2007 (which included Shull’s three-month absence from March through May 2007), Shull and SRO did not have to terminate or lay-off any employees for inability to pay them.²⁹ Although Shull claims that his business cash flow was “severely compromised” by his absence, he admits that he “can’t quantify it.”³⁰ When asked if he had any idea of how much money he or SRO lost as a result

²¹ R Vol. I, pp. 33-34 and p. 53.

²² R Vol. I, p. 45.

²³ R Vol. I, p. 45 (emphasis added).

²⁴ R Vol. I, p. 53.

²⁵ R Vol. I, p. 54. Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 141, ll. 9-20 of the transcript of the deposition of Christian Shull, M.D., Vol. II, taken July 11, 2008, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “B” to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

²⁶ R Vol. I, p. 55.

²⁷ Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 143, l. 12 thru p. 144, l. 4 of the transcript of the deposition of Christian Shull, M.D., Vol. II, taken July 11, 2008, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “B” to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

²⁸ Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 144, ll. 16-25 of the transcript of the deposition of Christian Shull, M.D., Vol. II, taken July 11, 2008, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “B” to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

²⁹ Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 135, ll. 18-24 of the transcript of the deposition of Christian Shull, M.D., Vol. II, taken July 11, 2008, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “B” to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

³⁰ Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 142, ll. 1-23 of the transcript of the deposition of Christian Shull, M.D., Vol. II, taken July 11, 2008, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “B” to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

of his three-month deployment, Shull testified, "I don't."³¹ When asked whether SRO enjoyed a net loss or net gain during his absence, Shull was unsure but testified, "*I suspect that my company was profitable while I was gone.*"³² Shull's 2007 federal tax return reports a net profit of \$804,843.00 for SRO in 2007 despite Shull's three-month military absence that year.³³ Shull's 2007 federal tax return reports Shull's adjusted gross income was \$886,986.00 despite his three-month military absence that year.³⁴ Shull keeps \$250,000 of his business revenues in an account for SRO's operating expenses, and then takes the remaining revenue in a monthly draw.³⁵

At his deposition, Shull testified that he was "primarily" interested in buying Dr. Mulvey's building, equipment, and supplies "to prevent [Dr. Mulvey] from selling it to somebody else" because "[Shull] did not want [Dr. Mulvey] to bring another competitor into the Idaho Falls market."³⁶ Despite Shull's concern about Dr. Mulvey bringing another oncologist to the Idaho Falls market, the May 11, 2008 edition of the Post Register's Medical Guide included a promotional advertisement from SRO announcing the addition of a new oncologist to SRO's staff. The advertisement states, "Dr. Christian Shull and the staff of Snake River Oncology would like to extend a warm welcome to Dr. Matthew Sweetser."³⁷ The advertisement concludes, "Dr. Sweetser

³¹ Clerk's Exhibits, p. 152, ll. 4-7 of the transcript of the deposition of Christian Shull, M.D, Vol. II, taken July 11, 2008, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "B" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

³² Clerk's Exhibits, p. 156, l. 17 thru p. 157, l. 4 of the transcript of the deposition of Christian Shull, M.D, Vol. II, taken July 11, 2008, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "B" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

³³ Clerk's Exhibits, Exhibit "D" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

³⁴ Clerk's Exhibits, Exhibit "D" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

³⁵ Clerk's Exhibits, p. 157, l. 23 thru p. 158, l. 18 of the transcript of the deposition of Christian Shull, M.D, Vol. II, taken July 11, 2008, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit "B" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008

³⁶ R Vol. I, pp. 44-45.

³⁷ Clerk's Exhibits, Exhibit "C" to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

is now accepting new patients.’’³⁸ The same advertisement from the May 11, 2008 edition of the Post Register’s Medical Guide also appeared as a full-page advertisement in the July/August 2008 issue of Idaho Falls Magazine.³⁹

As a result of SRO and Shull’s termination of the Lease, Climax faced a total loss of \$323,964.36 through the remainder of the original lease term. However, Climax avoided \$249,648.36 of that loss by successfully reletting the property left vacant by SRO. By reletting the property, Climax has reduced the amount of its potential losses from the lease termination from \$323,964.36 to actual losses of \$74,316.00.⁴⁰ As part of its efforts to relet the property, Climax incurred advertising expenses of \$741.97.⁴¹ Climax’ actual losses from the lease termination total \$75,057.97.⁴²

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

On May 23, 2007, Climax filed a complaint against SRO and Shull.⁴³ Subsequently, Climax filed an amended complaint.⁴⁴

On November 3, 2008, after conducting discovery, Climax filed a motion for summary judgment.⁴⁵ Climax argued that there was no genuine issue of fact and that justice and equity required the district court to modify SRO and Shull’s lease termination for several reasons. First, the SCRA, with its statutory history and case law, clearly vest courts with broad discretion to ensure

³⁸ Clerk’s Exhibits, Exhibit “C” to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

³⁹ Clerk’s Exhibits, Exhibit “C” to the Affidavit of B. J. Driscoll filed November 3, 2008.

⁴⁰ Clerk’s Exhibits, Affidavit of Sue Landon filed November 3, 2008.

⁴¹ Clerk’s Exhibits, Affidavit of Sue Landon filed November 3, 2008.

⁴² Clerk’s Exhibits, Affidavit of Sue Landon filed November 3, 2008.

⁴³ R Vol. I, p. 9.

⁴⁴ R Vol. I, p. 60.

that servicemembers do not put the immunities and privileges of the SCRA to “unworthy use” against the rights of their creditors.⁴⁶ This judicial discretion includes “broad latitude and discretion in granting equitable remedies *to lessors*.”⁴⁷ The SCRA intends no unfair result. Second, the undisputed facts demonstrated that Shull terminated his lease with Climax not because of anticipated hardship or his inability to meet his obligations following his call to military service, but to expand his medical practice and prevent competition from other oncologists by purchasing a larger building and additional equipment.⁴⁸ Third, Shull did not terminate the lease with Climax to *alleviate a financial burden from his military service*. In fact, by terminating his lease and then expanding his practice, Shull increased his debt from \$240,000 under the lease to approximately \$4,300,000.⁴⁹ Fourth, Shull orchestrated the lease termination to be effective not before or during his deployment, but a few days *after* his return from active duty.⁵⁰ Fifth, despite his 3-month military absence, Shull hired a locum tenens physician to manage his practice during his absence. As a result and despite his absence, Shull’s practice profited. Shull’s adjusted gross income that year still reached nearly \$900,000, plus the \$250,000 that he keeps in SRO’s business account.⁵¹

⁴⁵ See Clerk’s Certification of Exhibits (Sealed By Court Order) dated July 27, 2009, already on file with the court.

⁴⁶ Clerk’s Exhibits, pp. 10-11 of Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Bench Trial filed November 3, 2008.

⁴⁷ Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 11 of Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Bench Trial filed November 3, 2008. (Emphasis original in brief, added from case quoted.)

⁴⁸ Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 12 of Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Bench Trial filed November 3, 2008.

⁴⁹ Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 13 of Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Bench Trial filed November 3, 2008.

⁵⁰ Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 13 of Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Bench Trial filed November 3, 2008.

⁵¹ Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 14 of Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Bench Trial filed November 3, 2008.

In opposition to the motion, SRO and Shull argued that Climax improperly sought to require the servicemember show an “undue hardship” before exercising the lease termination provisions of the SCRA.⁵² SRO and Shull argued that the lease termination provisions of the SCRA intentionally omitted an “undue hardship” requirement to afford greater privileges to the servicemembers.⁵³ Importantly, SRO and Shull offered only legal arguments and did not dispute any material facts.⁵⁴

In reply, Climax reiterated that SRO and Shull did not dispute the facts of the case and summary judgment was proper.⁵⁵ Climax responded to SRO and Shull’s legal argument by pointing to the express language of Section 535(g) granting the court the right to modify Shull’s lease termination “as justice and equity require.”⁵⁶ Climax also distinguished *Conroy v. Aniskoff*, 507 U.S. 511 (1993), the legal authority SRO and Shull had relied on. The SCRA provision at issue in *Conroy* was Section 525 of the SCRA, which extended the time for a servicemember to exercise a right of redemption in real property. The defendants in *Conroy* argued that the servicemember should be required to show a hardship (an express prerequisite found in other provisions of the SCRA, but not in Section 525) before enjoying the extended redemption period. The United States Supreme Court rejected the defendants’ argument, refusing to read a hardship requirement into Section 525 that did not exist. Climax explained that Section 525 at issue in *Conroy* did not include an exception to the servicemember’s rights, but Section 535 did in subsection (g). Specifically, Section 535(g) expressly granted lessors the right to challenge a servicemember’s lease termination

⁵² Clerk’s Exhibits, p. 1 of Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment filed November 17, 2008.

⁵³ Clerk’s Exhibits, pp. 2-7 of Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment filed November 17, 2008.

⁵⁴ Clerk’s Exhibits, Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment filed November 17, 2008.

⁵⁵ Clerk’s Exhibits, pp. 1-2 of Reply Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment filed November 21, 2008.

⁵⁶ Clerk’s Exhibits, pp. 2-5 of Reply Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment filed November 21, 2008.

and for a court to modify that termination “as justice and equity require.”⁵⁷ Climax also reminded the court of its successful mitigation efforts, having avoided over 77% of the \$323,964.36 in total losses resulting from the lease termination.⁵⁸

At the December 1, 2008 hearing on the motion for summary judgment, Climax reiterated its request for relief as follows:

17

23 If I understand the defendants' argument
24 correctly, he's saying that undue hardship is not a
25 proper consideration for the court in this case. I

18

1 think that's entirely incorrect. The standard is --
2 and we're not disputing it, and they don't dispute
3 it -- does justice and equity require there be some
4 modification? *In other words, is it fair for my*
5 *client to have to bear that whole burden or not?* And
6 I understand that. There is no legal entitlement to
7 any particular amount. There's no magical formula for
8 how to determine this. This is an equitable case.

9 The legislative history and the case law
10 history is clear. The court has broad discretion.
11 And that's clear. What we're asking the court to
12 do -- and the case law supports this. And that is
13 consider undue hardship as a factor when looking at
14 the justice and equity of the situation. It's nothing
15 more than that. It's nothing less than that. We
16 think in this case it's proper, and given the history
17 that it is a proper consideration. Again, they're
18 trying to balance the rights of the soldier against
19 the rights of his creditor. And an undue hardship to
20 the soldier is a proper consideration.⁵⁹

⁵⁷ Clerk's Exhibits, pp. 2-5 of Reply Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment filed November 21, 2008.

⁵⁸ Clerk's Exhibits, pp. 5-6 of Reply Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment filed November 21, 2008.

⁵⁹ See Tr Vol. I, p. 17, l. 23 through p. 18, l. 20 (emphasis added).

Climax further explained that this case was not an attack on Shull, but a simple question of whether Climax should bear the entire burden from the lease termination so that Shull could expand his business as follows:

19

18 Dr. Shull, to his credit, made almost \$900,000 in the
19 2007 year. Good for him. He had an additional
20 \$250,000 tucked away in his business account in Snake
21 River Oncology. That's great. It sounds like he's
22 running a great business. And we're not criticizing
23 him as a business manager. *What we are criticizing*
24 *him for is placing the burden of carrying the loss*
25 *from his lease termination on us, when he's entirely*

20

1 *capable of carrying it for himself. He could have*
2 *honored this lease. He's using the statute in a way*
3 *that was not intended, to try to avoid his just*
4 *liabilities. And that's what we think is not just and*
5 *that we think is not equitable.*

....

21

19 Dr. Shull was able to buy a new building, buy
20 additional equipment, expand his practice. And we
21 don't fault him for that. Again, this is not an
22 attack on Dr. Shull. He's not a bad guy. He's not a
23 bad doctor. We're not saying any of that. All we're
24 saying is that *we need to look at whether justice and*
25 *equity would have my client foot the bill for his*

22

1 *business expansion, and we think that that's clearly*
2 *not the case.*⁶⁰

On January 30, 2009, the court filed its Opinion, Decision, and Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment ("Order") denying Climax' motion for summary judgment and granting

⁶⁰ See Tr Vol. I, p. 19, l. 18 through p. 20, l. 5 and p. 21, l. 19 through p. 22, l. 2 (emphasis added).

summary judgment *sua sponte* to SRO and Shull.⁶¹ The court erroneously referred to Climax' claim as one for breach of contract.⁶² The court correctly noted that Section 535 does not include a provision requiring the servicemember to show hardship or prejudice to terminate a lease.⁶³ However, the court seemed to limit the available equitable relief to instances of “mutual mistake, fraud, or impossibility.”⁶⁴ The court then denied any relief to Climax because “[t]here are no allegations before the court of fraud, or that Shull entered the military in order to shirk his obligations.”⁶⁵ In reaching its conclusion, the court did not cite to any facts supporting the “justice” or “equity” of its decision, but stated, “Plaintiff has not presented a compelling argument for this court to exercise its equitable discretion and withhold the protection of the Act.”⁶⁶

After granting summary judgment to SRO and Shull, the court entered a Final Judgment on May 15, 2009.⁶⁷ Subsequent to entry of judgment, the district court determined that this matter involved a commercial transaction and awarded SRO and Shull attorney's fees and costs pursuant to Idaho Code Section 12-120(3) and I.R.C.P. 54(d) and (e).⁶⁸

On June 9, 2008, Climax timely filed its Notice of Appeal.⁶⁹

//

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