UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-22-2009

Climax v. Snake River Oncology Respondent's Brief Dckt. 36613

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

ARGUMENT

1. Whether Plaintiff failed to appeal a finding of the trial court?

Plaintiff posits an inaccurate issue for appeal, stating "the Trial Court erroneously imposed a fraud standard where none existed."³⁰ The trial court did not impose any single standard for equitable relief, but instead noted that Plaintiff failed to present "a compelling argument for this court to exercise its equitable protection and withhold the protection of the Act."³¹ It appears that

³⁰Appellant's Brief, p. 15. ³¹R. Vol. I, p. 119.

Plaintiff misreads the trial court's ruling to infer a requirement of fraud. This, however, was not the case.

The only basis for "justice and equity" presented to the trial court was whether a service member's financial health, or lack of hardship, provided sufficient grounds for equitable relief.³² The trial court considered and rejected this argument, finding that a benefit to the service member or a loss to the lessor, is not a sufficient basis for equitable modification as that will always be the outcome when § 535 is invoked.³³ Because the trial court found that the financial gain or loss that necessarily flows from an invocation of § 535 was not a sufficient basis for equitable relief, the court looked at other potential factors, specifically noting that, "equitable remedies are not dependent on contractual or statutory schemes, but exist because no remedy is available at law 'and because sufficient grounds to invoke equity such as mutual mistake, fraud, or impossibility exist."³⁴

The trial court did not, contrary to Plaintiff's contentions, require an affirmative showing of fraud. To the contrary, the court merely noted additional factors which could be considered. Having ruled on Plaintiff's sole contention, the court clarified that there were no allegations which might otherwise form the basis of an equitable claim, such as fraud or that Dr. Shull entered the military service for the sole purpose of shirking his obligations under the lease.³⁵ Because the trial court did require a showing of fraud, Plaintiff does not present an issue for appeal.

³⁵R. Vol. I, p. 118.

³²Clerk's Exhibits, Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, October 31, 2008, pp. 12-15.
³³R. Vol. I, p. 118.
³⁴Opinion at 8 (citing *Holscher v. James*, 124 Idaho 443, 447 (1993)).

2. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying equitable relief.

On its face, Plaintiff's brief appears to have misstated the order of the Court and fails to raise a valid issue for appeal. In an exercise of caution, Defendants supply the following arguments in the event that Plaintiff's brief is interpreted to challenge the Court's equitable findings.

Only rarely have appellate courts interpreted the SCRA, particularly § 535. In fact, although § 535 was enacted in 1942, neither party has identified a single case where a service members' right to lease termination was modified. A decision by this court, which for the first time limits a service members ability to terminate his lease upon a call to service, will be reviewed exhaustively by sister jurisdictions.

Service members face the constant threat of a call to duty. Many, like Dr. Shull, endure multiple deployments within a few years. These service members, poor and rich alike, rely on § 535 for certainty in their lives. Some will choose to terminate their leases, and all that do, will do so because it benefits them. That is the purpose of the SCRA, to relieve service members so that their "energies may be devoted to [their] military duties, unhampered by mental distress."³⁶ Denying protection under the Act, based solely on a Defendants' financial means, would establish precedent encouraging needless litigation by landlords unhappy with the Acts protections. Such precedent would be contrary to the plain and unambiguous language of the Act.

³⁶R. Vol. I, p. 118 (citing Omega industries Inc. v. Raffaele, 894 R. Supp. 1425, 1434 (1995); see also, Patrikes v. J.C.H. Service Stations, Inc., 41 N.Y.S. 2d 158, 165 (1943)).

The trial court recognized the SCRA's benefit to service members generally, and the benefit to Dr. Shull in particular, in applying its equitable discretion to deny a modification of the lease termination. The trial court first recognized that "SCRA § 535 does allow the court to modify any relief granted under the section as equity and justice require."³⁷ Recognizing its equitable power, the court also noted that "[b]ecause this policy is to be liberally construed, a court of equity must exercise extreme caution in withholding the protection of [of the Act]."³⁸ The trial court then addressed the only basis for equitable relief presented by Plaintiff, that Plaintiff did not recover the lease payments which it alleges Defendants were financially able to pay. The court noted that "this reality reflects the very nature and purpose of the Act. As the Omega and Patrikes courts noted, the purpose of this legislation was to relieve servicemembers of the mental strain of financial frustrations so that their 'energies may be devoted to [their] military duties, unhampered by mental distress.""39

Having weighed the equitable considerations, including the loss of resources to Plaintiff and the benefit to Dr. Shull in allowing "him to focus his attention on treating ill service members in a time of war," the trial court determined that Plaintiff had "not presented a compelling argument for this court to exercise its equitable discretion and withhold the protection of the Act."40 Thus, the trial court(1) correctly perceived the issue as discretionary, (2) acted within the bounds of discretion

 ³⁷R. Vol. I, p. 117.
 ³⁸R. Vol. I, p. 118 (citing Omega, 894 F. Supp. at 1434 (citing Virginia Railway Co. v. System Federation) No. 40, 300 U.S. 515, 552 (1937)).

³⁹R. Vol. I, p. 118 (Omega, 894 F. Supp. at 1434, (Patrikes, 41 N.Y.S. at 165).

⁴⁰R. Vol. I, p. 119 (emphasis added).

and applied the correct legal standards, and (3) reached the decision through an exercise of reason. The trial court properly acted within its equitable discretion and should be upheld upon appeal.⁴¹

Plaintiff's theory would deny reviewing courts discretion to invoke or withhold A. equity, and require that a lease be modified whenever a service member benefits from the lease termination.

Plaintiff alleges no wrongful act by Defendants other than receiving the benefit afforded to them by § 535. As noted by the trial court, Plaintiff made no allegation of fraud, mutual mistake, or impossibility.⁴² Plaintiff presented no evidence in furtherance of any established doctrine of equitable relief. Nor did Plaintiff allege that Dr. Shull entered military service for the purpose of invoking the lease termination statute or that he induced Plaintiff's reliance, to Plaintiff's detriment, knowing that he intended to invoke the Act. Simply put, Dr. Shull was called to service on the orders of the United States Army. Defendants were then forced to make a series of business decisions, and realized a benefit by invoking protections under the Act. Plaintiff seeks to deny Defendants that benefit on the allegation that Defendants did not suffer severe financial harm prior to invoking their right.43

⁴¹West Wood Invs., Inc. v. Acord, 141 Idaho 75, 82, 106 P.3d 401, 408 (2005) (citing Sun Valley Potato *Growers, Inc. v. Texas Refinery Corp.*, 139 Idaho 761, 768, 86 P.3d 475, 482 (2004)). ⁴²R. Vol. I, p. 118.

⁴³ Plaintiff acknowledged in its Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment that Defendants suffered lost profits from a reduced number of new patient referrals, and that this reduced cash flow lasted at least three months. Clerk's Exhibits, Brief Sup. Sum. Judg., 6.

At summary judgment, Plaintiff acknowledged Defendants' absolute right to terminate the lease under the SCRA.⁴⁴ Plaintiff also acknowledged that the right to termination was not conditioned on a showing of material effect.⁴⁵ In other words, Defendants had a right to cancel the lease whether or not Dr. Shull suffered an undue hardship from his call to service. Yet, Plaintiff repeatedly argued that the lease termination should be modified based solely on whether the Defendants suffered an undue hardship caused by Dr. Shull's call to service.⁴⁶ Plaintiff closed its brief for summary judgment by stating, "Shull did not employ the lease termination provision of the SCRA 'to prevent or remedy any undue hardship resulting to [him]' or from 'his inability to meet his obligations."⁴⁷ Plaintiff argues that if a service member does not suffer "undue hardship" then equity should deny him his legal protection. ⁴⁸ Such a standard does not free a service member to

Id.

⁴⁴Clerk's Exhibits, Reply Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Bench Trial, November 21, 2008, p. 3.

⁴⁶Clerks Exhibits, Brief, Sup. Sum Judg, pp. 12-15.

⁴⁷Clerk's Exhibits, Brief Sup. Sum. Judg. 15, citing *Patrikes v. J.C.H. Service Stations, Inc.*, 41 N.Y.S. 2d 158, 165 (1943).

Plaintiff's reliance upon this single basis for recovery is set forth in briefing in support of Plaintiff's Motion for Protective Order. In its motion for protective order, Plaintiff argued, "Climax' financial information is irrelevant to the determination of the main issue in this case, namely whether Defendants suffered any undue hardship from Christian Shull, M.D.'s three month absence for military service. If the Defendants suffered no undue hardship, then this court should grant Climax relief from the lease termination as justice and equity require." (R. Vol. I, pp. 82-83), Appellant again stated their view of the relevant evidence in Appellant's Reply Brief in Support of Motion for Protective order. Therein Appellant stated, "[t]he issue this court must decide is whether the defendants suffered undue hardship from Shull's absence, then justice and equity may not require any modification of the lease termination. However if the Defendants suffered no undue hardship from Shull's absence, then justice and equity will not condone the avoidance of defendants' obligations under the lease termination. For Shull's absence, then justice and equity will not condone the avoidance of defendants' obligations under the lease just so that Shull could expand his medical practice and leave Climax with the unpaid debt." (R. Vol. I, p. 92)

concentrate on his call to duty but requires that he not settle his affairs until the wolves are at the door.

SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL RELIEF ACT.

Plaintiff's theory for equitable relief is based upon a series of cases applying an entirely different statutory scheme.

The first enactment of what is now the SCRA was entitled the Soldier and Sailor Relief Act of 1918.49 It was therafter re-enacted in 1940 and 1942 and titled the Soldier and Sailor's Civil Relief Act (SSCRA).⁵⁰ In many respects the 1940 enactment followed the Soldier and Sailor Relief Act of 1918.51

Sections of the SSCRA first enacted in 1918 and interpreted in Appellant's Brief on Appeal, contained a "material effect" provision. Material effect provisions required a showing that the service member's call to duty effected his ability to meet his obligations. Plaintiff cites to the cases Boone v. Lightner, 319 U.S. 561 (1943), Franklin Soc. for Home-Building and Savings v. Flavin, 265 A.D. 720 (NY 1943) and Dietz v. Truepel, 184 A.D. 448 (NY 1918).52 Each of these cases interprets a section of the then SSCRA that contained a material effect provision.⁵³ In those sections

⁴⁹Boone v. Lightner, 319 U.S. 561, 568-69 (1943). ⁵⁰Id.

⁵¹*Id.* ⁵²Appellants' Brief on Appeal, pp. 19-20. ⁵³*Boone*, 319 U.S. at 565 (interpreting then 50 U.S.C. App. 520); *Franklin*, 25 A.D. at 721 (interpreting *Transl.* 184 A D. 448 (NY 1918) (interpreting then 50 U.S.C. App. 532) then 50 U.S.C. App. 521, 532); Dietz v. Truepel, 184 A.D. 448 (NY 1918) (interpreting then 50 U.S.C. App. 532)

"material effect" is a precondition, and failure to show that it has been met denies all benefit under that section. For instance, former § 521 was quoted in *Boone* as follows:

At any stage thereof any action or proceeding in any court in which a person in military service is involved, either as plaintiff or defendant, during the period of such service or within sixty days thereafter may, in the discretion of the court in which it is pending, on its own motion, and shall, on application to it by such person or some person on his behalf, be stayed as provided in this Act, unless, in the opinion of the court, the ability of plaintiff to prosecute the action or the defendant to conduct his defense is not materially affected by reason of his military service.⁵⁴

In its brief to this Court, Plaintiff quotes liberally from the legislative history cited in the

Boone case.⁵⁵ The legislative history is irrelevant to the proceedings here as tBoone Court's stated

purpose was to interpret the section's "material effect" provision.⁵⁶ The Boone Court noted,

Canons of statutory construction admonish us that we should not needlessly render as meaningless the language which, after authorizing stays, says "unless, in the opinion of the court, the ability of plaintiff to prosecute the action or the defendant to conduct his defense is not **materially affected** by reason of his military service.

The Act of 1940 was a substantial reenactment of that of 1918. The legislative history of its antecedent shows that this clause was deliberately chosen and that judicial discretion thereby conferred on the trial court instead of rigid and undiscriminating suspension of civil proceedings was the very heart of the policy of the Act.57

The Boone Court continued, "The clause 'unless, in the opinion of the court, the ability of the

defendant to comply with the judgment or order sought, is not materially affected by reason of his

and the second sec

Ì

-13-

⁵⁴Boone, 319 U.S. at 564-65. ⁵⁵Appellants' Brief, pp. 19-20. ⁵⁶Boone, 319 U.S. at 569

⁵⁷*Id.* at 568-69.

military service,' is the key to the whole scheme of the bill."58 The Supreme Court noted, "The Act ... requires only that the court be of opinion that ability to defend is not materially affected by military service."59 Simply put, the Court required a finding of hardship because that is what the language of those sections of the Act required.

Plaintiff also cites to Dietz v. Truepel, for what it presents as general propositions regarding the then SSCRA. However, the court in Dietz also interpreted, and was bound by, a section of the SSCRA containing a "material effect" provision.⁶⁰ The Dietz court expressly stated, "That is the criterion under the Act of Congress. The stay shall be granted 'unless in the opinion of the court the ability of the defendant to comply with the terms of the obligation is not materially affected by reason of his military service."⁶¹ The *Dietz* court then denied the service member relief based upon the statutory requirement to show "material effect" to obtain relief under the Act.⁶² "While the courts will protect the men engaged in the service of the nation from loss in legal proceedings brought about by their absence in service, the papers should show that the threatened injury is due to their service and consequent inability to protect their interests, and this is the plain direction of the Act of Congress."⁶³ The hardship requirement was the "plain direction" of Congress simply because Congress had inserted a "material effect" provision in the section at issue.

⁶³Id.

. .

a statut a commença

⁵⁸Id. at 569
⁵⁹Id. at 571.
⁶⁰Interpreting then 50, App., § 532
⁶¹Dietz v. Truepel, 184 A.D. 448 (NY 1918).

⁶²*Id.* at 450.

Section 535 has a separate legislative history and statutory purpose than the provisions cited by Plaintiff.

The SSCRA was enacted in October 1940.⁶⁴ In many respects it followed the Soldier and Sailor Relief Act of 1918.⁶⁵ In 1942, Congress formed a special committee in response to several bills seeking to amend the 1940 Act.⁶⁶ The committee was assisted by Maj. William D. Partlow, Jr. of the Judge Advocate General's Department of the Army.⁶⁷ The special committee held numerous hearings with interested parties prior to presenting its draft to the full Committee on Military Affairs.⁶⁸

At the time of the 1942 amendments, Congress was very familiar with the "materially

affected" provisions and knew to include that language where it intended to condition protection

under the Act on a showing of hardship. As Major Partlow testified before the full committee:

You left it in such a way, sir, which I have tried to follow out in drafting these amendments, of limiting nearly all of them to the ability of the person to discharge the obligation; whether or not his ability to pay has been impaired materially by reason of his military service. Except in this section, as Mr. Elston has mentioned, there is no limitation there as to the impairment of his ability to discharge the obligation, with reference to his right of cancellation of the lease. And the theory behind it, as I just stated, is that he still not able to enjoy that property.

The Chairman. That is right.

Major Partlow. And therefore this would give him the right to cancel the lease.⁶⁹

· · · · · · · ·

 $\frac{67}{68}$ *Id.*

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